ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County

C. Victor Pyle, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
FEB 03 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

SHANE A. MAHON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001599

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

The trial court erred by refusing to dismiss Appellant's DUI indictment where the State failed to produce a video of Appellant's field sobriety tests, Appellant's arrest or the determination of probable cause to arrest, and of Appellant's being advised of his *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> rights, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a) or an affidavit from the arresting officer, State Trooper Erik Klemm, certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because Appellant needed emergency medical treatment, as required by S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2953(B).

### II.

The trial court erred reversibly by refusing to suppress the results of Appellant's blood test where Trooper Klemm admitted that he did not offer Appellant the opportunity to provide a breath sample before seeking a blood draw and the State did not allege that Appellant was physically unable to provide a breath sample.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 426 (1966).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2014, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Shane A. Mahon for driving under the influence, third offense, with a blood alcohol concentration between .10% and .15%. R. 164.

On July 15-16, 2015, Appellant proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. R. 22, ll. 16-24. Alex Kornfield represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitor Justin Halloway represented the State.

Judge Pyle found Appellant guilty as charged and sentenced Appellant to three years imprisonment suspended on the service of one year imprisonment, the payment of a \$3,500.00 fine, the completion five years of probation, and the successful completion of a drug diversion program. R. 146, l. 20 - 147, l. 19; R. 154, ll. 9-23.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### **Early Morning Single Car Accident**

At 4:47 a.m. on May 4, 2014, State Trooper Erik Klemm arrived on the scene of a single car accident south of Greer in a rural part of Greenville County. R. 32, l. 12 - 35, l. 25. Appellant had driven his white Jeep Cherokee off of the road, struck a telephone pole, and rolled over several times. There were no passengers. Appellant's accident was Klemm's first DUI investigation. R. 29, ll. 1-11:

By the time Klemm arrived, firefighters had already cut off the roof of Appellant's badly damaged jeep in order to extract him from the vehicle. *Id.* Appellant was seriously injured during the crash. R. 33, ll. 1-13; R. 51, ll. 14-20. He was taken by ambulance to Greenville Memorial Hospital.

Klemm would claim at trial that he spoke briefly to Appellant while Appellant was in the ambulance and that he noticed a "very strong odor of alcoholic beverage about his person." R. 33, ll. 10-13. Klemm's in-car dash camera began recording when he activated his blue lights while driving to the accident location. R. 45, l. 7 - 46, l. 15.

Because Appellant had to be taken to the hospital, no field sobriety tests were conducted at the accident location. Klemm turned off his camera at 5:05 a.m. R. 49, ll. 6-21.

### **HGN Test and Blood Draw at Hospital**

When Appellant arrived at Greenville Memorial Hospital at around 5:30 a.m. He was immediately admitted into the trauma ward. R. 49, l. 22 - 51, l. 23. Appellant's father, Ronald Mahon, arrived at the hospital at around 6:00 a.m. R. 118, ll. 1-23. Ronald recalled that Appellant was "awake, but he was kinda in and out . . . mumbling words" during the first couple of hours he was in the hospital. *Id.*

At trial, Klemm originally testified that he arrived at the hospital shortly after Appellant did. R. 50, ll. 2-19. He stated that Appellant still smelled of alcohol when he arrived. R. 35, l. 23 - 37, l. 23. Klemm was certain that he left Appellant around 6:00 a.m. *Id.*

Ronald Mahon, whom Klemm remembered was with Appellant in the hospital, also recalled that Klemm left Appellant's room by 6:10 a.m. R. 117, l. 19 - 119, l. 7; R. 124, l. 13 - 125, l. 14. Hospital records indicated that Appellant was "unable to answer" questions about his condition when admitted to the hospital around 5:30 a.m. R. 15, l. 4 - 16, l. 24; R. 164.

Based on the hospital records, if Klemm had left Appellant's room by 6:00 a.m. - as he and Ronald Mahon believed he had - it was almost impossible for Appellant to have been awake, alert, and to have agreed to do horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test from his hospital bed and then to have consented to a blood draw. R. 51, l. 25 - 53, l. 23.

However, after prompting from the solicitor on re-direct, Klemm clarified that his earlier testimony was incorrect. R. 56, l. 3 - 57, l. 12. With the solicitor's assistance, he remembered that, in fact, he did not arrive at the hospital until around 6:30 a.m. *Id.* Thus, the State argued that hospital records indicating that Appellant was "unable to answer" questions at 5:30 a.m. now no longer meant that Appellant was unconscious at the same time that Klemm alleged Appellant failed the HGN test.

Regardless of if and when the HGN test was allegedly conducted, Trooper Klemm averred that Appellant failed it. R. 36, l. 1 - 37, l. 23. *Id.* There were no witnesses or video footage of the test. Klemm arrested Appellant as a result of the failed HGN test. R. 37, l. 24 - 38, l. 3. **Klemm did not provide a sworn affidavit explaining why there was no video** of the field sobriety test and arrest.

At trial, Klemm reluctantly admitted that Appellant was the first person he had ever given an HGN test to. R. 52, ll. 3-14. Ronald Mahon did not recall Appellant undertaking any field sobriety tests while in the trauma ward. R. 118, l. 18 - 119, l. 16.

After arresting Appellant, Klemm alleged that he read Appellant his implied consent rights and that Appellant - alert and awake - consented to a blood draw. *Id.* R. 38, l. 2 - 39, l. 19. **The State produced an implied consent form dated May 4, 2014, signed only by Klemm. Appellant's signature was not on the form, instead Klemm wrote "unable to sign" in its place.** *Id.*; R. 157. Ronald Mahon did not remember his son ever being given an implied consent form and stated that Appellant would not have been able to sign it if one had been presented to him. R. 119, ll. 2-11.

When asked by the solicitor why Appellant did not sign the implied consent form, Klemm had no cogent explanation, positing only that, "[t]he subject was inside the trauma bay. He just wasn't able to sign it at the time." R. 38, ll. 20-25. More troublingly, Klemm later contradicted himself during cross-examination and conceded that he did not recall if he ever asked Appellant to sign the implied consent form. R. 54, ll. 6-21. **Critically, Klemm admitted that he did not offer Appellant the chance to take a breathalyzer test before ordering a blood draw.** *Id.*

Klemm denied that Appellant was unconscious at any point during the HGN test or blood draw. R. 52, l. 12 - 54, l. 21. Klemm never testified that Appellant had an injury to his mouth that would have rendered him physically unable to provide a breath sample

Nurse Becky Howe conducted the blood draw at 7:10 a.m. R. 59, ll. 6-21; R. 61, ll. 5-22. At trial, she testified she was not involved in Appellant's medical treatment and had only conducted the blood draw at Klemm's behest. R. 63, l. 5 - 68, l. 2. She did not remember Klemm handing Appellant an implied consent form. *Id.*

She did not remember whether Appellant's hands rendered him unable to sign his name. *Id.* She did not remember if Appellant was unconscious during the blood draw. She never testified that Appellant was physically unable to provide a breath sample. The results of the blood draw revealed that Appellant had a blood alcohol concentration of 0.159. R. 100, ll. 3-23.

### **Pre-Trial Motions and Bench Trial**

Appellant moved pre-trial to dismiss his indictment arguing the State failed to comply with the video recording requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A) and (B). R. 1, l. 20 - 4, l. 24. The defense argued that Trooper Klemm did not record Appellant's "conduct" as required by the statute. *Id.*

Specifically, there was no video of the HGN test, Appellant's *Miranda* advisement, or Appellant's arrest. *Id.* Moreover, Klemm did not submit an affidavit "certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed." *Id.*; *see also* R. 13, ll. 10-19; S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B).

The State countered that under a separate exception in § 56-5-2953(B), "once you have a traffic investigation" neither a video recording nor a sworn affidavit from the arresting officer is necessary. R. 5, ll. 5-22. The State also contended that the video recording was unnecessary as there were no field sobriety tests at the "incident site". The State advanced that the "incident site" in § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a) was defined as the accident location. R. 6, l. 7 - 29, l. 24.

The defense also motioned to suppress the results of the blood draw as the hospital documents and implied consent form indicated that Appellant was "unable to answer" questions and "unable to sign" at the time that the blood draw was taken, thus he could not have consented to the draw. R. 15, l. 4 - 16, l. 24. The State responded that Trooper Klemm and Nurse Howe "will be

able to testify as to what sort of condition [Appellant] was in while he was in the hospital. R. 17, l. 1 - 20, l. 4.

The trial court summarily denied the defense's motions. After the denial of motions, Appellant elected to proceed with a bench trial. Klemm and Howe testified for the State. Ronald Mahon testified for the defense.

### **Appellant's Post-Trial Renewal of Motions**

After the State rested and again at the close of evidence, Appellant renewed his motion to dismiss the case for the failure to provide a video recording or affidavit. R. 105, l. 6 - 117, l. 14; R. 132, l. 1 - 135, l. 15. The defense noted that the exception excusing the failure to record and the failure to produce an affidavit when dealing with traffic accidents was inapplicable as Klemm's dash-camera was activated when he turned on his blue lights. R. 105, l. 7 - 107, l. 44; R.132, l. 1 - 134, l. 8.

Defense counsel also noted that Klemm had both a camera and a phone capable of recording video that he could have used in the hospital. *Id.* The trial court denied Appellant's renewed motion without elaboration. R. 113, ll. 2-3; R. 135, ll. 14-15.

Appellant also renewed his motion to suppress the results of the blood draw due to Klemm's failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(A)(1)(a). R. 113, l. 8 - 115, l. 18, l. 44; R.134, ll. 9- 16. Specifically, Klemm admitted in his trial testimony that he did not first offer Appellant the opportunity to provide a breath sample before seeking the blood draw. *Id.*

Moreover, none of the statutory exceptions permitting Klemm to dispense with the offer of a breath test were present. *Id.* Again, the trial summarily denied Appellant's motion. R. 115, l. 19-20; R. 135, ll. 14-15.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

**The trial court erred by refusing to dismiss Appellant's DUI indictment where the State failed to produce a video of Appellant's field sobriety tests, of Appellant's arrest or the determination of probable cause to arrest, and of Appellant's being advised of his *Miranda* rights, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a), or an affidavit from the arresting officer, State Trooper Erik Klemm, certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because Appellant needed emergency medical treatment, as required by S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2953(B).**

#### Relevant Facts

The State did not produce a video of Appellant's conduct at the incident site as required under S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a). The State also failed to produce an affidavit from Trooper Klemm certifying that it was impossible to record Appellant's conduct because Appellant needed emergency care as required by S.C. 56-5-2953(B) so as to excuse the failure to produce a video of Appellant's conduct at the incident site.

The State argued, and the trial court agreed, that the failure to produce a video or an affidavit was excused because only conduct at the "incident site" must be recorded. R. 6, l. 7 - 7, l. 24. The State defined "incident site" as the accident location; irrespective of where Appellant conducted field sobriety tests, was given *Miranda* warnings, or was arrested. R. 10, l. 6 - 12, l. 16. The State also claimed that no affidavit or video was required because Klemm was investigating a traffic accident pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B). R. 14, ll. 7-23.

The trial court should have dismissed Appellant's indictment as the failure to produce a video or a sworn affidavit mandated dismissal. Our case law and the rules of statutory construction make evident that the "incident site" is the location where the field sobriety tests occur, where the probable cause determination or arrest takes place, and where the defendant is advised of his *Miranda* rights. *State v. Henkel*, 413 S.C. 9, 774 S.E.2d, 458 (2015) (holding that the failure to

record defendant's conduct at an incident site located several miles from accident location was excused under the facts of the case).

The failure to record Appellant's "conduct" could have been excused if Klemm had drafted a sworn affidavit certifying that video recording was impossible because Appellant required emergency medical treatment. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B). For unknown reasons, Trooper Klemm simply failed to draft an affidavit in thirteen months between Appellant's arrest and trial.

Appellant's indictment should have been dismissed by the trial court due to the State's failure to comply with the statutory requirements. *Murphy v. State*, 392 S.C. 626, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011) (recognizing the State's noncompliance with § 56-5-2953, which is not mitigated by a statutory exception, warranted dismissal).

**The "Incident Site" for the purposes of the video recording requirement of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a) is the location where the field sobriety tests occur, where the probable cause determination or arrest occurs, and where the *Miranda* advisement occurs.**

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible. *State v. Morgan*, 352 S.C. 359, 574 S.E.2d 203 (Ct.App.2002) (*citing State v. Baucom*, 340 S.C. 339, 531 S.E.2d 922 (2000)). The legislature's intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. *Morgan* at 366, 574 S.E.2d 203, 547 S.E.2d at 206.

Courts should consider, not merely the language of the particular clause being construed, but the word and its meaning in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law. *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 492 S.E.2d 777 (1997). Particular terms must be construed in context and their meaning determined by looking at the other terms used in the statute. *Hudson*, 336 S.C. 237, 519 S.E.2d 577.

Finally, penal statutes must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of the defendant. *Hair v. State*, 305 S.C. 77, 406 S.E.2d 332 (1991). Any doubt as to the proper

construction should be resolved in favor of the citizen against the state. *State v. Cutler*, 374 S.C. 376, 264 S.E.2d 420 (1980); *see also Yates v. United States*, 574 U.S. \_\_\_, 135 S.Ct. 1074 (2015) (holding that ambiguity concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should be resolved in favor of lenity).

South Carolina law requires that a person who violated § 56-5-2930 “must have his conduct at the **incident site** and breath site videotaped.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A). The purpose of the videotaping requirement “is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 347, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011).

“[T]he videotaping provisions of section 56-5-2953 are mandatory and not optional.” *Id.* at 346, 713 S.E.2d at 285. “A law enforcement agency’s failure to comply with [section 56-5-2953] is fatal to the prosecution of a DUI case.” *Id.* The video recording statute provides that:

A person . . . must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

**The video recording at the incident site must not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights; include any field sobriety tests administered; and include the arrest of a person . . . or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his *Miranda* rights.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a)(*emphasis added*).

Further, an exception to the video recording requirement requires the arresting officer to submit a sworn affidavit explaining the failure to have video footage of the “**time of arrest or probable cause determination**” § 56-5-2953(B). Another exception also excuses the failure to record Appellant’s conduct where “an arrest has already been made” provided that the video recording begins as soon as is practicable and otherwise conforms to the statutory requirements. *Id.*

Section 56-5-2953(A)(1)(a) clearly mandates recording specific conduct of a suspected drunk driver. Therefore the “incident site” is the location or locations where this specific conduct—the field sobriety tests, the arrest or the determination of probable cause to arrest, and the advisement of *Miranda* rights - occurred.

Our Supreme Court’s opinion in *State v. Henkel*, 413 S.C. 9, 774 S.E.2d, 458, used exactly this definition of “incident site” when deciding whether the failure to record *Miranda* warnings required dismissal. In *Henkel*, a motorist called 911 to report an individual driving a truck erratically had just hit a bridge and overturned into a ditch. *Id.* at 10, 774 S.E.2d at 459.

The truck’s driver ran from the scene. Three to four hours later, the arresting officer responded to a call that the driver may have been located several miles from the accident scene. *Id.* The driver was being examined by EMS. The arresting officer could smell alcohol on the driver when he arrived at the ambulance. EMS then informed the officer that the driver did not need medical treatment. *Id.*, 774 S.E.2d at 460.

The arresting officer initiated audio recording during the HGN test inside the ambulance and read the driver his *Miranda* rights. *Id.* The officer concluded the driver was under the influence and placed him beside his patrol car. The driver then failed to recite the alphabet correctly while beside the car. The officer then placed the driver inside his patrol car, turned on his camera and read the driver his rights again. None of the field sobriety tests were videotaped.<sup>2</sup>

The Court excused the failure to record because the arresting officer had not activated his blue lights and videotaping began as soon as was practicable and continued until the driver’s arrest. *Id.* at 15-16, 774 S.E.2d at 462. In so ruling, the Court held that the “incident site” for the purposes

---

<sup>2</sup> At the time of the driver’s arrest § 56-5-2953(A) required only that a person’s conduct and advisement of rights be recorded. It did not specifically require recording field sobriety tests as the current statute does. *Henkel*, 413 S.C. 9, 13, 774 S.E.2d 458, 460-461.

of the video recording requirement was where the field sobriety tests, the *Miranda* advisement, and the driver's arrest (and the determination of probable cause to arrest) occurred as opposed to where the driver's truck wrecked. *Id.*

In Appellant's case the "incident site" would have been the intensive care ward of Greenville Memorial Hospital where Trooper Klemm administered an HGN test, provided *Miranda* warnings, and, ultimately, arrested Appellant. Given this incident site's location, it is not surprising that Klemm failed to videotape Appellant's conduct. However, the law is clear, "a law enforcement agency's failure to comply with these provisions is fatal to the prosecution of a DUI case" unless one of the exceptions found in § 56-5-2953(B) applies. *Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 713 S.E.2d 278.

**The State's failure to comply with the applicable exception found in S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B), by not producing a sworn affidavit from Trooper Klemm stating that it was physically impossible to videotape Appellant's conduct because Appellant required emergency medical treatment, mandates dismissal of Appellant's indictment.**

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