ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

C. Victor Pyle, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001599

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHANE A. MAHON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss his DUI indictment because the State acted in full compliance with the statute as no field sobriety tests were conducted at the incident site, but even if not fully compliant, the State was excused under both the totality of the circumstances and the "traffic accident investigations" exceptions of section 56-5-2953(B).

Appellant argues the trial court erred by refusing to dismiss his DUI indictment, claiming the State failed to produce either a video of his conduct at the incident site or an affidavit from the arresting officer, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B). However, the State acted in full compliance with the statute because the trooper recorded all of Appellant's conduct at the incident site. That recording began with the activation of Trooper Klemm's blue lights, included "any field sobriety tests administered" (of which there were none at the incident site) and could not include the arrest or *Miranda* because he was not arrested at the incident site. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to dismiss for failure to comply with section 56-5-2953. Furthermore, to the extent this Court finds the video recording was not fully compliant, it was excused both (1) under the totality of the circumstances and (2) because Klemm was responding as a traffic accident investigator.

(A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 **must have his conduct at the incident site** and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording **at the incident site** must:

(i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;

(ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and

(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable

cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

...

(B) Nothing in this section may be construed as prohibiting the introduction of other relevant evidence in the trial of a violation of Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945. Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed. In circumstances including, but not limited to, road blocks, **traffic accident investigations**, and citizens' arrests, where an arrest has been made and the video recording equipment has not been activated by blue lights, the failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recordings required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal. However, as soon as video recording is practicable in these circumstances, video recording must begin and conform with the provisions of this section. **Nothing in this section prohibits the court from considering any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances**; nor do the provisions of this section prohibit the person from offering evidence relating to the arresting law enforcement officer's failure to produce the video recording.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 (2006 & Supp. 2015) (emphasis added).

Appellant argues that in *State v. Henkel*, 413 S.C. 9, 774 S.E.2d 458 (2015), the Supreme Court “held that the ‘incident site’ for the purposes of the video recording requirement was where the field sobriety tests, the *Miranda* advisement, and the driver’s arrest . . . occurred as opposed to where the driver’s truck wrecked.” (App.Br.14–15). However, the *Henkel* Court made no such holding. Indeed, the Court in *Henkel* made clear the conduct referred to in the statute is conduct “at the scene.” *Id.* at 15, 774 S.E.2d at 462. It refers to a “typical DUI traffic stop” and states that the videotaping is done “by the car-mounted camera that is initiated by the officer’s blue lights.” *Id.* at 14, 774 S.E.2d at 461. This clearly means the Court envisions the place where the officer makes a standard DUI traffic stop, or where the officer arrives in his car following the accident, as the “incident site.” This could be either the accident site itself or the place where the driver is found. Either way, though, the incident site is the place where the officer drives up in his vehicle for the first time, whether to make a traffic stop (the typical DUI situation) or to investigate an accident that has already occurred. In *Henkel*, the situation was atypical because the accident had happened elsewhere and Henkel had fled the scene and was found several hours later walking on the interstate where he was picked up by an ambulance. The officer first conducted field sobriety tests on Henkel in the ambulance, which is the place the officer found him. Henkel was not severely injured as he did not require a trip to the hospital. Indeed, the officer completed the field sobriety tests by the side of his vehicle after Henkel was released by the ambulance.

The Court noted that in the situation in *Henkel*, “the legislative concerns with **videotaping one-on-one traffic stops** to capture the interactions between an officer and the subject are not present.” *Id.* at 15, 774 S.E.2d at 462 (emphasis added). It noted that “[n]umerous officers and emergency personnel observed respondent’s conduct **at the scene.**” *Id.* (emphasis added). The Court stated, “We find the audio recording of respondent’s field sobriety

tests adequately captured **his conduct at the scene of the traffic accident investigation.**” *Id.* (emphasis added). Again, it is apparent the Court regarded “the scene” or “the incident site” as where the subject was found. It even stated the reason the Legislature required videotaping in the statute was to capture officer-subject interactions during a one-on-one traffic stop.

Comparing that to the case at hand, the “incident site” would be the scene where the collision occurred and Appellant was found, not the hospital trauma bay. Thus, there was no typical conduct to record at the incident site because by the time the officer arrived, Appellant was being loaded into an ambulance and taken to the hospital for his severe injuries.

In *State v. Manning*, this Court addressed a traffic accident situation where there were injuries. 400 S.C. 257, 734 S.E.2d 314 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court found “there was no conduct to record under subsection A of section 56-5-2953 because the police arrived after Manning left the scene to seek medical treatment.” *Id.* at 265, 734 S.E.2d at 318. Furthermore, this Court looked at the portion of the statute that “allows the circuit court to look at the totality of the circumstances and make a determination of whether the charges should be dismissed.” *Id.* It is very clear from this Court’s analysis that it considered “the incident site” the place where the accident occurred, not the hospital. Otherwise, this statement from the opinion would make no sense: “Although the officers did not arrive to **the incident site** before Manning was sent to the **hospital**, the first sentence of subsection A plainly states that ‘[a] person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site . . . video recorded.’” *Id.* (emphasis added). Plainly the incident site and the hospital are two different things. Appellant’s argument that the hospital could become the incident site if that was where the officer conducted field sobriety tests fails. Even though Appellant was still at the scene when Trooper Klemm arrived, unlike Manning, the fact remains that he was severely injured and was

already in the ambulance about to leave for the hospital. Thus, just as in *Manning*, there was no conduct to record and there was compliance with the statute.

Because no “conduct” occurred at the “incident site,” Trooper Klemm was not required to provide a video recording at all. Consequently, he was not required to produce an affidavit explaining the absence of a video recording of anything that happened at the hospital.

Additionally, even if this Court concludes the hospital should be encompassed in the “incident site,” evidence supports the trial court’s excusing the absence of a video recording for two reasons. First, under the totality of the circumstances, it would be absurd to require Trooper Klemm to drive his car into the hospital so his dash camera could record Appellant’s conduct in the trauma bay. Second, the circumstances fell under the exception for “traffic accident investigations.” Thus, for all three of these reasons, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s request to dismiss the charge, and this Court should affirm its ruling.

II.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the blood test because the State did not allege that he was physically unable to provide a breath sample is not preserved for appellate review. However, even if preserved, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the blood test because he gave consent.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by refusing to suppress the results of his blood test, claiming that Trooper Klemm did not offer him a breath test first and the State did not allege he was physically unable to provide a breath sample. Regardless, Trooper Klemm read Appellant his implied consent rights, to which he gave his consent even though he was unable to sign the form. Thus, the trial court correctly denied the motion to suppress. This Court should affirm.

Appellant filed a written pretrial Motion to Dismiss, claiming Appellant did not consent to give a blood sample. Neither in the written motion, nor during his pretrial argument, did Appellant argue that the State did not allege that he was physically unable to provide a breath sample. Now, for the first time in his Appellant's brief, he has introduced the claim that without consent the State violated section 56-5-2950 because the nurse failed to provide testimony that he was physically unable to provide a breath sample. Even at the end of the State's case, when Appellant mentioned the nurse's testimony, he stated:

The other Motion that I would make would be is that the nurse did not testify—I inquired about the statute that specifically states—she did prove that blood was taken at the direction of the nurse. She testified that she had come in and made the legal blood draw at his request. Also there was no testimony about whether it was requested—whether a breath test was offered, whether he had an injured mouth, whether he was unconscious or dead. So the only exception that would apply would be that it would be under the direction of the licensed medical personnel, not the other way around, Your Honor.

(R. 113, lines 8–22). It is unclear exactly what motion Appellant was actually making, and he did not specify what relief he was asking for. Defense counsel seemed to focus on whether Appellant consented and when Trooper Klemm had arrived at the hospital, rather than what the nurse’s testimony was. (R. 114–116). Thus, this portion of the issue is not preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”).

However, even if this Court finds the issue is preserved, evidence in the record supports the conclusion that Appellant consented to have his blood drawn and tested. Trooper Klemm testified that he read Appellant each part of the implied consent rights form exactly as listed and he wrote “unable to sign” where Appellant would have signed. (R. 38, line 2–R. 39, line 16). The record shows Appellant was able to hold a conversation, according to both his father’s testimony and that of the officer when he testified Appellant admitted to drinking alcohol. (R. 35, lines 18–25; R. 118, lines 17–20). On cross-examination, Trooper Klemm testified he also wrote “subject conscious” on the form. (R. 54, lines 6–11). Although Appellant argues in his brief that Trooper “Klemm had no cogent explanation” for why Appellant did not sign the implied consent form, Klemm’s testimony (even pointed out by Appellant in his brief) was that “[t]he subject was inside the trauma bay. He just wasn’t able to sign it at the time.” (App.Br.8). As to Appellant’s statement in his brief that Klemm “conceded that he did not recall if he ever asked Appellant to sign the implied consent form,” the State would hardly consider this a meaningful concession. There is no requirement that Klemm had to ask Appellant to sign the form and no requirement for a signature in the first place. The statute simply states that the person must be verbally informed and be given a written copy, not that he must consent in writing. Trooper Klemm could likely have seen that Appellant was unable to sign based on his

medical condition, which even Appellant describes as “seriously injured.” He was not required to ask first to find out if Appellant could sign.

(A) A person who drives a motor vehicle in this State is considered to have given consent to chemical tests of the person’s breath, blood, or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol, drugs, or the combination of alcohol and drugs, if arrested for an offense arising out of acts alleged to have been committed while the person was driving a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs. A breath test must be administered at the direction of a law enforcement officer who has arrested a person for driving a motor vehicle in this State while under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol and drugs. At the direction of the arresting officer, the person first must be offered a breath test to determine the person's alcohol concentration. **If the person is physically unable to provide an acceptable breath sample because the person has an injured mouth, is unconscious or dead, or for any other reason considered acceptable by the licensed medical personnel, the arresting officer may request a blood sample to be taken.** If the officer has reasonable suspicion that the person is under the influence of drugs other than alcohol, or is under the influence of a combination of alcohol and drugs, the officer may order that a urine sample be taken for testing. A breath sample taken for testing must be collected within two hours of the arrest. Any additional tests to collect other samples must be collected within three hours of the arrest.

(B) No tests may be administered or samples obtained **unless**, upon activation of the video recording equipment and prior to the commencement of the testing procedure, **the person has been given a written copy of and verbally informed that:**

(1) the person does not have to take the test or give the samples, but that the person's privilege to drive must be suspended or denied for at least six months with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person refuses to submit to the test, and that the person's refusal may be used against the person in court;

- (2) the person's privilege to drive must be suspended for at least one month with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person takes the test or gives the samples and has an alcohol concentration of fifteen one-hundredths of one percent or more;
- (3) the person has the right to have a qualified person of the person's own choosing conduct additional independent tests at the person's expense;
- (4) the person has the right to request a contested case hearing within thirty days of the issuance of the notice of suspension; and
- (5) if the person does not request a contested case hearing or if the person's suspension is upheld at the contested case hearing, the person shall enroll in an Alcohol and Drug Safety Action Program.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950 (Supp. 2015) (emphasis added).

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